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FORM 10-Q A i, QUARTERLY
REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the quarterly
period ended November 30, 2024 OR i,” TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 A For the Transition Period from to A Commission file
number 0-11330 Paychex, Inc. (Exact name of registrant as specified
in its charter) A A Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 16-1124166 (I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.) 911 Panorama Trail South Rochester, NY (Address of principal executive offices) 14625-2396(Zip
Code) Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (585) 385-6666 A Securities registered pursuant to Section
12(b) of the Act: Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered Common Stock,
$0.01 par value PAYX NasdagA Global Select Market A Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all
reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12




months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes if% No i,” A Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has
submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(A§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required
to submit such files). Yes if% No i,” A Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an
accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the
definitions of &€celarge accelerated filer,a€ a€ceaccelerated filer,a€ a€cesmaller reporting company,a€ and
d€eemerging growth companya€ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Large accelerated filer if% Accelerated filer i~
Non-accelerated filer i” Smaller reporting company i- A A Emerging growth company i~ If an emerging growth
company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying
with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. i,” A
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 1,”
No if¥s A As of November 30, 2024, 360,063,074 shares of the registranta€™s common stock, $.01 par value, were
outstanding. Table of Contents A PAYCHEX, INC. Table of Contents A A A Page PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1 Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited) 1 A Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income 1 A
Consolidated Balance Sheets 2 A Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity 3 A Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows 5 A Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 6 Item 2. Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations 18 Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 29
Item 4. Controls and Procedures 30 PART II. OTHER INFORMATION 31 Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
and Use of Proceeds 31 Item 5. Other Information 31 Item 6. Exhibits 31 Signatures A 32 A Table of Contents A A
PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION Item 1. Financial Statements PAYCHEX, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED) In millions, except per share amounts A A A For the three
months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A November 30, A A A 2024 A A 2023 A A
2024 A A 2023 A Revenue:A A AAAAAAAAAAAAA A Management Solutions A $ A 962.9A A $A
930.7 A A $A 1,924.6 A A $ A 1,886.2 A PEO and Insurance Solutions A A A 3179A A A A 2957A A A A
637.2A A A A 593.5 A Total service revenue A A 2,561.8A A A A 2,479.7
A Interest on funds held for clients A A A 3 4.2 A Total revenue
1,3169A A A A 1,2579A A A A 2,635.4 AAAAAAA
Cost of service revenue A A A 379. A Selling, general and
administrative expenses 7.1 A Total expenses A A A
778.8A A A A 751.7 A 538.1A A A A 506.2A A A
A AAA 10 AAAA160A A A A 245A Income
A11008AA A A 1,067.0 A Income taxes A A A 130.3
tincome A $A 413.4A A $A 392.7A A $A 840.8A A $A
A Other comprehenswe (loss)/ ncome, net of tax A A A (11.6 )A
2AAAA (73)C mp rehensive income A $ A 401.8 A A $ A 4086A A $A 894.0A A $
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAABasmearmngspershareA $A 5A A $A 1.09A A $A
A 2.25 A Diluted earnings per share A $ A 1.14 A A $ A 1.08A A $A 2. 2 A A $A 2.24 A Weighted-
average common shares outstanding A A A 360.0A A A A 3605A A A A 360.1A A A A 360.6 A Weighted-
average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution A A A 361.7A A A A 362.1A A A A 361.8A A A A
362.4 A A A See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 1A Table of Contents AA PAYCHEX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED) In millions, except per share amounts A A A November 30, A A
May 31, A A A 2024 A A 2024 A AssetsA A A A A A A A Cashand cash equlvalentsA $A 1,202.1 A A $A
1,468.9 A Restricted cAasbA A A 63.1 A A A A 47.8 A Corporate investments A A A 38.0A A A A 33. QA
Interest receivable A A A 23.7A A A A 23.3 A Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses A A A
1,256.9A A A A 1,059.6 A PEO unbilled receivables, net of advance collections A A A 598.9A A A A 5424 A
Prepaid income taxes A A A 922 A A A A 47.5 A Prepaid expenses and other current assets A A A 3456 A A A
A 321.9 A Current assets before funds held for clients A A A 3,620.5A A A A 3,545.3 A Funds held for clients A A
A 3,809.1A A A A 3,706.2 A Total current assets A A A 7,429.6 A A A A 7,251.5 A Long-term corporate
investments A A A a€” A A A A 3.7 A Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation A A A 432.1 A
A A 411.7 A Operating lease right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization A A A 46.3A A A A 46.9A
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization A A A 179.8A A A A 194.5A GoodwillA A A 1,879.8A A A A
1,882.7 A Long-term deferred costs A A A 468.0 A A A A 477.1 A Other long-term assets A A A 119.1A A A A
115.0 A Total assets A $ A 10,554.7 A A $ A 10,383.1 A LiabilitiesA A A A A A A A Accounts payable A $ A
89.2A A $A 104.3 A Accrued corporate compensation and related items A A A 112.9A A A A 135.0 A Accrued
worksite employee compensation and related items A A A 704.3 A A A A 662.4 A Short-term borrowings A A A
182 A A A A 18.7 A Deferred revenue A A A 50.7A A A A 50.2 A Other current liabilities A A A 458.9A A A
A 469.8 A Current liabilities before client fund obligations A A A 1,434.2A A A A 1,440.4 A Client fund obligations
A A A 3,895.0A A A A 3,868.7 A Total current liabilities A A A 5,329.2 A A A A 5,309.1 A Accrued income taxes
A A A 1132A A A A 102.6 A Deferred income taxesA A A 95.3A A A A 86.0 A Long-term borrowings, net of
debt issuance costs A A A 798.9 A A A A 798.6 A Operating lease liabilities A A A 45.7A A A A 49.0 A Other
long-term liabilities A A A 246.7A A A A 236.8 A Total liabilities A A A 6,629.0 A A A A 6,582.1 A
Commitments and contingencies 4€” NoteIA A A A A A A A Stockholders&€™ equity A A A A A A A A Common
stock, $0.01A par value; Authorized: 600.0A shares;Issued and outstanding: 360.1A shares as of November 30, 2024and
May 31,2024 A A A 3.6 A A A A 3.6 A Additional paid-in capital A A A 1,789.4A A A A 1,729.5 A Retained
earnings A A A 2,224.6 A A A A 2,213.0 A Accumulated other comprehensive lossA A A (91.9)A A A (145.1)
Total stockholdersa€™ equ1tyA A A 3,925.7A A A A 3,801.0 A Total liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equltyA $ A
10,554.7A A $ A 10,383.1 A A A See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 2A Table of Contents A A
PAYCHEX, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS&€™ EQUITY (UNAUDITED) In millions, except
per share amounts A A A For the six months ended November 30, 2024 A A A Common stock A A A A A AAAA
A Accumulated other comprehensive lossA A AAAA A SharesA A Amount A A Additional paid-in capital A A
Retained earnings A A Net unrealized loss on AFS securities A A Foreign currency translation A A Total
accumulated comprehensive loss A A Total A Balance as of May 31, 2024 A A 360.1A A $A 36A A $A 1,729.5
A A$A 2213.0AA $A (1207)A $A (244)A $A (145.1 )A A 3,801.0 A Netincome A A a€”A A A A a€”
A A
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securities, net of $18.9A million in tax expense A A a€”A A A A &€"A A A A a46"A A A A a€"A A A A 576
AAAa”AAAAS76AAAAS576A Reclassification adJustment for realized gains on securities, net of

$0.0A million in tax expense (1) A A a€”A A A A a&€”A A A A a6”A A A A a€”A A A A (00)A A A ae”A A
A A (0.0)A A A (0.0) Cash dividends declared ($1.96A per share) A A 4€”A A A A a€”A A A A 4" A A
70

A
.7) A ag”A AAAa”"AAAAa€"AAA A (7057 ) Repurchases of common shares, jncluding excise
taxes of 4€” A A

A
s of $0.
a¢” A A A
a€” A A A

(_n >’O >’

A A
5A million 2) A A (0.8)A A A (00)A A A (40)A A A (1005)A A A age” A AAa€”A
A (104.5) Stock-based compensation costsA A a€”A A A A a€”A A A A 329A A
A a€”A A A A ae”A A A A 329A Foreign currency translation adjustment A A 4€” A

A A A ae” A A A A AAAAM44)AAA (44)A A A (4.4) Activity related to

plans A A 0.8 1.0A A A (23.0)AAAae"AAAAa&"AAAAAEGAAAASBO
A Balance as of Novem er39,202 A 3601A A $A36AAS$A17804A A $A 22246A A $A (63.1)A $
A (28.8)A $A (91.9)A $ A 3,925.7A A A A A For the three months ended November 30, 2024 A A A Common
stock A A AAAAAA A A Accumulated other comprehensive lossA A’ A A A A A Shares A A AmountA A
Additional paid-in capital A A Retained earnings A A Net unrealized loss on AFS securities A A Foreign currency
translation A A Total accumulated comprehensive loss A A Total A Balance as of August 31, 2024 A A 359.9A A §
A 36A A $A 1,761.7 A A $A 2,165.4A A $A (589)A $A (214)A $A (803)A $A 3,850.4 A Net income A
Aae”AAAAa€”AAAAaad"AAAA4134AAAAAGEAAAAAGEAAAAA G AAAAAL34A
Unrealized losses on securltles net of $1. 3A million in tax benefit A A 4€” A A A A a€”A A A A a€”A A A A a€”
A A A (4.2 JA A A a€”AAAA (4.2 JA A A (4.2) Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on securities,
$0 OA million in tax expense (VA A a€”A A A A a€”A AAAae”"AAAAGB&G"AAAA (O O)A A A a€”
A A (0L0)A A A (0 0 ) Cash dividends declared ($O 98A per share) A A a€”A A A A a€”A A A A a€”"A A
352 9)A A A a6”A A A A a€” A A A A a€”"A A A A (352.9) Repurchases of common shares 1nclud1ng

ae” A A
AAAae"AAAAae
A A

L > I’]>>

axes of $0. 5A million (2) A A 4€” A A A A a€” A A A A ae”A AAA (0. 5)A A A ae” A A ae” A A

ta
€”A A A A (0.5) Stock-based compensation costs A A 4€” A A A A a6”A A A A 16.4A A A A a€” A A
€” A A AAa”AAAA a€”A A A A 16.4 A Foreign currency translation adjustment A A 4€”A A A A
a€”A A AAae"AAAAG&G"AAAAAGAAAA (74)A A A (7.4)A A A (7.4) Activity related to equity-
based plansA A 02A A AA00OAAAA113AAAA (08)AAAa€"AAAAG AAAAAAAA
10.5 A Balance as of November 30, 2024 A A 360.1A A $A 3.6 A A $A 1,789.4A A $A 22246A A $A (63.1)
A $A (28.8)A $A (91.9)A $A 3,925.7 A A (1)Reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other
comprehensive loss for realized gains/(losses), net of tax, on the sale of AFS securities are reflected in interest on funds
held for clients and other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. (2)The
Company maintains a program to repurchase $400.0 million of its common stock, with authorization expiring May 31,
2027. The Company previously maintained a program to repurchase up to $400.0 million of its common stock, with an
authorization that expired on January 31, 2024. The purpose of these programs is to manage common stock dilution. 3A
Table of Contents AA A A For the six months ended November 30, 2023 A A A Commonstock A A A A AAAA
A A Accumulated other comprehensive lossA A A A A A A Shares A A Amount A A Additional paid-in capital A
A Retained earnings A A Net unrealized loss on AFS securities A A Foreign currency translation A A Total
accumulated comprehensive loss A A Total A Balance as of May 31, 2023 A A 360.5A A $A 36 A A $A 1,626.4
A A $A 20231A A $A (1303)A $A (296)A $A (159.9)A $ A 3,493.2 A NetincomeA A 4€”A A A A a¢€”
AAAAa&aG&AAAABI19AAAA a€”"AAAA a€”AAAA a€”A A A A 811.9A Unrealized losses on
securities, net of $2.8A m1111on in tax benefit A A 4€”A A A A &€"A A A A a€"AAAAa€"AAAA (91)AA
A ae”"A A AA (9.1 YA A A (9 1 ) Reclassification adJustment for realized losses on securities, net of $0.0A million in
taxbeneflt(l)A Aae"AAAAa”"AAAAaG AAAAAG EAAAAO00AAAAA G"AAAADO0O
O 0 A Cash dividends declare ($1. 78A pershare) A A a€”A A A A a6”A A A A a6”A A A A (641.9)
"AAARAa"AARAA A
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AAae”AAAAa”AAAAa€”A A A A 7.0A Balance as of November 3
$A 36A A $A 1,6786 A A $A 2,000.4A A $A (1394)A $A (278)A $A (1672)A $A 3,5 5244A A AAA
For the three months ended November 30, 2023 A A A Common stock A A A A A A A A A A Accumulated other
comprehensive lossA A A A A A A Shares A A Amount A A Additional paid-in capital A A Retained earnings A A
Net unrealized loss on AFS securities A A Foreign currency translation A A Total accumulated comprehensive loss A
A Total A Balance as of August 31, 2023 A A 361.2A A $A 36A A $A 1,666.4 A A $A 2,100.9A A $A (154.2
)A $A (289)A $A (183.1 )A $A 3,587.8 A Netincome A A 46”A A A A a6”A A A A 46”A A A A 392.7A
AAAa”"AAAA a"AAAAa"AAA A 392.7A Unrealized gains on securities, net of $4 8A million in tax
expense A A 46" A A A A a6”AAAAa”AAAAa&aGE”AAAA148A AAAaAAAAI148AAAA
14.8 A Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on securities, net of $0.0A million in tax expenseA (1) A A a€” A
AAAa"AAAA€"AAAAGAAAA@OO)AAAG&"AAAA 00)AA A (0.0)Cash dividends
declared ($O 89A per share) A A 46" A A A A a6”A A A A a€”"A A A A (320. 5)A A A a€”A A A A a€”AA

a€" A A A A (320.5) Repurchases of common shares (2)A A (1.5)A A A (0.0)A A A (6.2)A A A (163.0)

AA 4€”A A A A a€”A A A A 4€”A A A A (169.2) Stock-based compensation costs A A 4€”A A A A a€” A
AAA147AAAAa€”AAAAa€”AAAAa€"A AAae"AA AA14.7A Foregncurrencytranslatlon
adjustment A A 46" A A A A 46”A A A A a6”A A A A ae”A A A Aé€AAAA11 A11AAAA
11AAt1V1tyrelatedtoequltybasedplansAAOlAAAAOOAAAA37AAAA(O7)AAAa€”AAA
Aé€ A AAAa”A A A A 3.0A Balance as of November 30, 2023AA3598AA$A 3.6A A $A 1,678.6 A
A $A 2,0094A A $A (139.4)A $A (27.8)A $A (167.2)A $ A 3,524.4 A A (1)Reclassification adjustments out

of accumulated other comprehensive loss for realized gains/(losses), net of tax, on the sale of AFS securities are
reflected in interest on funds held for clients and other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. (2)The Company maintained a program to repurchase up to $400.0 million of its common stock,
with an authorization that expired on January 31, 2024. The purpose of this program was to manage common stock
dilution. A See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 4A Table of Contents A A PAYCHEX, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) In millions A A A For the six months ended A A A
November 30, A A A 2024 A A 2023 A Operating activities A A A A A A A A NetincomeA $A 840.8A A $A



811.9 A Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: A A A A A A A A
Depreciation and amortization A A A 80.7A A A A 86.1 A Amortization of premiums and discounts on AFS
securities, netA A A (5.6)A A A (2.9) Amortization of deferred contract costs A A A 117.3A A A A 115.1 A
Stock-based compensation costs A A A 32.9A A A A 30.7 A Benefit from deferred income taxes A A A (9.5)A A
A (6 4 ) Provision for credit losses A A A 12.4A A A A 10.0 A Net realized (gams)/losses on sales of AFS securities
AAA (0.0) A A A 0.0 A Changes in operating assets and liabilities: A A A A A A A A Interest receivable A A A
(0.4)A A A 0.7 A Accounts receivable and PEO unbilled receivables, net A A A (68.6)A A A 52.9 A Prepaid
expenses and other current assets A A A (68.9)A A A (46.3 ) Accounts payable and other current liabilities A A A
6.7A A A A 66.6 A Deferred costs A A A (107.8)A A A (123.1) Net change in other long-term assets and
liabilities A A A 14.0 A A A A 10.1 A Net change in operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities AAA (2.9)
AAA (1.1 ) Net cash provided by operating activities A AAB841.1A A A A 1,004.3 A Investing activities A A A
A A A A A Purchases of AFS securities A A A (5,168.5) A A A (3,303.7 ) Proceeds from sales and maturities of
AFS securities A A A 5,163.6 A A A A 3,607.0 A Net purchases of short-term accounts receivable A A A (200.1) A
A A (104.8 ) Purchases of property and equipment A A A (82.6)A A A (79.4) Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired A AAa&a”AAAA (208 3 ) Purchases of other assets, net A A A (15 1 )A A A (20.5) Net cash used in
investing activities A AA (302.7 YA A A (109 7 ) Financing activities AAAAAAAA Net Change in client fund
obligations A A A 26.3A A A A 1,332.8 A Net change in short-term borrowings A A A a€”A A A A 3.8A
Dividends paid A A A (706.2) A A A (642.1 ) Repurchases of common shares, including excise tax A A A (104.5) A
A A (169.2) Activity related to equity-based plans A A A 8.0A A A A 7.0 A Net cash (used in)/provided by
fmancmg activities A A A (776.4)A A A 532.3 A Net change in cash, restricted cash, and equlvalents A A A (238 0
YA A A 1,426.9 A Cash, restricted cash, and equivalents, beginning of period A A A 1,897.0A A A A 2,1349A
Cash, restricted cash, and equivalents, end of period A $ A 1,659.0A A $A 3561.8A A AAAAAA A
Reconciliation of cash, restricted cash, and equivalentsA A A A A AAAAAAAAAA A Cashand cash
equivalents A $ A 1,202.1 A A $ A 1,363.1 A RestrictedcashA A A 63.1A A A A 47.9 A Restricted cash and
restricted cash equivalents included in funds held for clients A A A 393.8 A A A A 2,150.8 A Total cash, restricted
cash, and equivalents A $ A 1,659.0 A A $ A 3,561.8 A A See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. A 5A
Table of Contents AA PAYCHEX, INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
November 30, 2024 Note A: Description of Business, Basis of Presentation, and Significant Accounting

PoliciesA Description of business: Paychex, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, the &€ceCompanya€ or
a€ePaychexa€) is a leading provider of integrated human capital management (4€ceHCMa<€) solutions for human
resources (&€ceHRAa€), payroll, benefits, and insurance for small- to medium-sized businesses in the United States
(a€aeU.S.a€) and parts of Europe. The Company also has operations in India. Paychex, a Delaware corporation formed
in 1979, reports as one segment. A Basis of presentation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (4€ceGAAPA€) for interim financial
information and with the instructions to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ("Form 10-Q") and Article 10 of Regulation
S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial
statement presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company with
all intercompany transactions eliminated. Certain disclosures are reported as zero balances due to rounding. In the
opinion of management, the information furnished herein reflects all adjustments (consisting of items of a normal
recurring nature) necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim period. These consolidated financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements and related Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements presented in the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K (&€ceForm 10-Ka€)
for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024 (a€cefiscal 20244a€). Operating results and cash flows for the six months ended
November 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for other interim periods or for
the fiscal year ending May 31, 2025 (a€cefiscal 20254€).A Reclassifications: Certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on reported
consolidated earnings.A Restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents: Restricted cash and restricted cash
equivalents are recorded at fair value, and consist of cash and cash equivalents, primarily money market securities,
included in funds held for clients and cash that is restricted in use to secure commitments for certain workersa€™
compensation insurance policies. A Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses: Accounts receivable
balances are shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of the allowance for credit losses of $25.1 million and $21.3
million as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, respectively. These balances include trade receivables for services
provided to clients and receivables purchased from the Company's clients under non-recourse arrangements. Trade
receivables were $144.7 million and $141.3 million as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, respectively. Purchased
receivables, at gross, were $1.1 billion and $939.6 million as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, respectively.

A The Company is exposed to credit losses through the sale of services, payment of client obligations, and collection of
purchased receivables. To mitigate this credit risk, the Company has multiple programs in place to assess and
continuously monitor each clienta€™s ability to pay for these solutions and support. Credit monitoring programs
include, but are not limited to, new client credit reviews, establishing appropriate credit limits, monitoring of credit
distressed clients, and early electronic wire and collection procedures. The Company also considers contract terms and
conditions, client business type or strategy and may require collateralized asset support or prepayment to mitigate
credit risk.A Accounts receivable are written off and charged against the allowance for credit losses when the Company
has exhausted all collection efforts without success. The Company estimates its credit losses based on historical loss
activity adjusted for current economic conditions and reasonable and supportable forecast factors, when applicable. The
provision for the allowance for credit losses and accounts written off were not material for the three and six months
ended November 30, 2024 and November 30, 2023. No single client had a material impact on total accounts receivable
as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024 or service revenue and results of operations for the three and six months
ended November 30, 2024 and November 30, 2023.A Professional Employer Organization (4€cePEOA€) unbilled
receivables, net of advance collections: PEO unbilled receivables, including estimated revenues, offset by advance
collections from clients, are recorded as PEO unbilled receivables, net of advance collections on the Companya€™s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, advance collections were $1.3 million and
$0.7 million, respectively.A 6A Table of Contents A A PEO insurance reserves: As part of its PEO solution, the
Company offers workersa€™ compensation insurance and health insurance coverage to clients for the benefit of client
employees. Workersa€™ compensation insurance is primarily provided under fully insured high deductible workersa€™
compensation insurance policies. Workersa€™ compensation insurance reserves are established to provide for the



estimated costs of paying claims up to per occurrence liability limits. These reserves include estimates of certain
expenses associated with processing and settling claims. For fiscal 2025 and 2024, the Company has an aggregate
maximum liability of $1.0 million for claims exceeding $1.0 million, and once met, the maximum individual claims
liability is $1.0 million. A With respect to PEO health insurance coverage, the Company offers various health insurance
plans that take the form of either fully insured guaranteed cost plans or fully insured insurance arrangements where the
Company retains risk. A reserve for insurance arrangements where the Company retains risk is established to provide
for the payment of claims in accordance with the Companya€™s service contract with the carrier. The claims reserve
includes estimates for reported losses, plus amounts for those claims incurred but not reported, and estimates of
certain expenses associated with processing and settling the claims. The Companya€™s maximum individual claims
liability is $0.5 million under its policies covering both fiscal 2025 and fiscal 2024.A In establishing the PEO workers'
compensation insurance reserves, the Company uses an independent actuarial estimate of undiscounted future cash
payments that would be made to settle claims. Estimating the ultimate cost of future claims is an uncertain and complex
process based upon historical loss experience and accepted actuarial methods and assumptions. These reserves are
subject to change due to multiple factors, including economic trends, changes in legal liability law, and damage awards,
all of which could materially impact the reserves as reported in the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, final
claim settlements may vary from the present estimates, particularly with workersa€™ compensation insurance where
those payments may not occur until well into the future. The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of its estimated
insurance reserves. Adjustments to previously established reserves are reflected in the results of operations for the
period in which the adjustment is identified. Such adjustments could be significant, reflecting any combination of new
and adverse or favorable trends.A Stock-based compensation costs: The Company has issued stock-based awards to
employees and members of its Board of Directors (the &€ceBoarda€) consisting of stock options, restricted stock units,
and restricted stock awards. The Company accounts for all stock-based awards to employees and members of the Board
as compensation costs in the consolidated financial statements based on their fair values measured as of the date of
grant. These costs are recognized over the requisite service period. Stock-based compensation costs recognized were
$16.4 million and $32.9 million for the three and six months endgd November 30, 2024, and $14.7 million and $30.7
million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2023. A Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: There
were no recently adopted accounting pronouncements during the six months ended November 30, 2024 that had a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements or disclosures. Recently issued accounting
pronouncements: In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (&€ceFASBa€) issued Accounting
Standards Update (a€eASU&€) No. 2023-07 a€eSegment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures.a€ This ASU expands public business entitiesa€™ segment disclosures by requiring disclosure of significant
segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker and included within each reported
measure of segment profit or loss, an amount and description of its composition for other segment items, and interim
disclosures of a reportable segmenta€™s profit or loss and assets. The requirements are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, and for interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and
are required to be applied retrospectively. This ASU is applicable to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ending May 31, 2025, and subsequent interim periods, with early application permitted. The
requirements of this ASU are disclosure-related and will not have an impact on the Companya€™s financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its
reportable segment disclosures. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 d€ceIncome Taxes (Topic 740):
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures.a€ This ASU updates income tax disclosure requirements primarily by
requiring specific categories and greater disaggregation within the rate reconciliation and disaggregation of income
taxes paid by jurisdiction. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and is applicable
to the Companya€™s fiscal year beginning June 1, 2025, with early application permitted. The transition method is
prospective with the retrospective method permitted. The requirements of this ASU are disclosure-related and will not
have an impact on the Companya€ ™s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its income tax disclosures. In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No.
2024-03 a€celncome Statement 4€“ Reporting Comprehensive Income a€“ Expense Disaggregation Disclosures
(Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.a€ This ASU requires public business entities to
disclose, for interim and annual reporting periods, additional information about certain income statement expense
categories. The requirements are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2027. Entities are permitted to apply either the prospective or retrospective transition
methods. 7A Table of Contents A A This ASU is applicable to the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ending May 31, 2028, and subsequent interim periods, with early application permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures. A Note
B: Service RevenueA Service revenue is primarily attributable to fees for providing services to the Companya€™ s
clients and is recognized when control of the contracted services is transferred to its clients, in an amount that reflects
the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for such services. Insurance Solutions revenue is commissions
earned on premiums collected and remitted to insurance carriers. The Companya€™s contracts generally do not contain
specified contract periods and may be terminated by either party with a 30-day notice of termination. Sales and other
applicable non-payroll related taxes are excluded from service revenue.A Based upon similar operational and economic
characteristics, the Companya€™s service revenue is disaggregated by Management Solutions and PEO and Insurance
Solutions as reported in the Companya€™s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The
Company believes these revenue categories depict how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of its revenue and
cash flows are affected by economic factors. Management Solutions Revenue Management Solutions revenue is
primarily derived from the Companya€™s integrated HCM services and HR solutions. Clients can select services on an
Aj la carte basis or as part of various product bundles. The Companya€™s offerings often leverage the information
gathered in its base payroll processing service, allowing it to provide comprehensive services covering the HCM
spectrum. Management Solutions revenue is generally recognized over time as services are performed and the client
simultaneously receives and controls the benefits from these services. A Revenue earned from delivery service for the
distribution of certain client payroll checks and reports is also included in Management Solutions revenue in the
Companya€™s Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. Delivery service revenue is recognized
at a point in time following the delivery of payroll checks, reports, quarter-end packages, and tax returns to the
Companya€™s clients.A PEO and Insurance Solutions RevenuePEO solutions are sold through the Companya€™ s
registered and licensed subsidiaries and offer businesses HCM and HR solutions. The Company serves as a co-employer



of its clientsa€™ employees, offers health insurance coverage to client employees, and assumes the risks and rewards of
workersa€™ compensation insurance and certain health insurance offerings. PEO Solutions revenue is recognized over
time as the services are performed and the client simultaneously receives and controls the benefits from these services.
PEO Solutions revenue is reported net of certain pass-through costs billed and incurred, which include payroll wages,
payroll taxes, including federal and state unemployment insurance, and health insurance premiums on guaranteed cost
benefit plans. For workersa€™ compensation and health insurance plans where the Company retains risk, revenues and
costs are recorded on a gross basis.A PEO pass-through costs netted within the PEO and Insurance Solutions revenue
were as follows: A A A For the three months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A
November 30, A In millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Payroll wages and payroll taxes A $ A 7,172.0
A A $A 6,6469A A $A 14,053.6 A A $A 13,061.5 A State unemployment insurance (included in payroll wages
and payroll taxes) A $ A 234A A $A 19.7A A $A 46.4A A $ A 38.3 A Guaranteed cost benefit plans A $ A
167.5A A $A 171.3A A $ A 333.3A A $A 333.8 A A Insurance solutions are sold through the Companya€™s
licensed insurance agency, Paychex Insurance Agency, Inc., which provides insurance through a variety of carriers,
allowing companies to expand their employee benefit offerings at an affordable cost. Insurance offerings include
property and casualty coverage such as workersa€™ compensation, business-owner policies, commercial auto, cyber
security, and health and benefits coverage, including health, dental, vision, life and disability. Insurance Solutions
revenue reflects commissions earned on remitted insurance services premiums billed and is recognized over time as
services are performed and the client simultaneously receives and controls the benefits from these services.A 8A Table
of Contents A A Contract BalancesThe timing of revenue recognition for Management Solutions and PEO and Insurance
Solutions is consistent with the invoicing of clients as they both occur during the respective client payroll period for
which the services are provided. Therefore, the Company does not recognize a contract asset or liability resulting from
the timing of revenue recognition and invoicing. A Payments received for certain of the Companya€™s service offerings
for set-up fees are considered a material right. Therefore, the Company defers revenue associated with these
performance obligations, which exceed one year, and subsequently recognizes them as future services are provided,
over approximately three to four years.A Changes in deferred revenue related to material rights that exceed one year
were as follows:A A A For the three months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A
November 30, A In millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Balance, beginning of period A $ A 73.4A A $
A 67.0A A $A 749A A $A 62.0A Deferral of revenue A A A 100A A A A 11.0A A A A 176A A A A 23.9
A Recognition of unearned revenue A A A (9.4)A A A (82)A A A (185)A A A (16.1) Balance, end of period A
$A 740A A $A 69.8A A $A 74.0A A $A 69.8 A A Deferred revenue related to material rights is reported in the
deferred revenue and other long-term liabilities line items on the Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of
November 30, 2024, the Company expects to recognize deferred revenue related to these material rights for the
remainder of fiscal 2025 and subsequent fiscal years as follows:A In millions A Estimated A Year ending May 31, A
recognition of unearned revenue A 2025 A $ A 17.9A 2026 A A A 29.0 A Thereafter A A A 27.1 A Total
recognition of unearned revenue A $ A 74.0 A A Assets Recognized from the Costs to Obtain and Fulfill ContractsThe
Company recognizes an asset for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a client if it is expected that the
economic benefit and amortization period will be longer than one year. The Company also recognizes an asset for the
costs to fulfill a contract with a client if the costs are specifically identifiable, generate or enhance resources used to
satisfy future performance obligations, and are expected to be recovered. A Deferred costs to obtain and fulfill contracts
are reported in the prepaid expenses and other current assets and long-term deferred costs line items on the
Companya€™s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amortization expense related to costs to obtain and fulfill a contract are
included in cost of service revenue and selling, general and administrative expenses in the Companya€™s Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income and recognized over the expected economic benefit period. A The
Company regularly reviews its deferred costs for potential impairment and did not recognize an impairment loss during
the six months ended November 30, 2024 or November 30, 2023.A Changes in deferred costs to obtain and fulfill
contracts were as follows:A Costs to obtain contracts: A A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAA A For the three
months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A November 30, A In millions A 2024 A A
2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Balance, begmnlng of perlodA $ A 6029A A $ A 6026 A A $A 609 4 A A $ A
597.5 A CapltallzatlonofcostsA AA499A AAAS537AAAA92AAAA1094A A
(52.1 )A A A (51. 3)A A A (103.9)A A A (101 9)Balance endofper1odA $A 600.7 A A
600.7A A $A 605.0 A A 9A Table of Contents A A A Costs to fulfill contracts: A A A A A A
A A A A For the three months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A November 30, A In
millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Balance, begmnmg of perlod A $A 762A A $A 752A A $A
76.6 A A $A 75.3A CapltahzatlonofcostsA AA63AAAA72AAAAI126A A A A 13.7A Amortization
AAA@®G7)AAA 66)AAA (134)A A A (13.2) Balance, end of period A $A 75.8A A $A 75.8A A $A
75.8 A A $ A 75.8 A A Note C: Basic and Diluted Earnings Per ShareA Basic and diluted earnings per share were
calculated as follows:A A A For the three months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A
November 30, A In millions, _except per share amounts A 2024 A A 2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Basic earnings per
share: A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAA NetincomeA $A 4134A A $A 392.7A A $A 840.8A A $A
811.9 A Weighted-average common shares outstanding A A A 360.0A A A 360.1A A A A

3

AAA
360. 6 A Basic earnings per share A $ A 1.15A A § A 1.09A A $A A Diluted earnings per
AA$A 8408A A $A

A 360.1A A A A

o)
e

811. 9 A Weighted-average common shares outstanding A A A 360.
360.6 A Dilutive effect of common share equivalents A A A 1.7A A 1

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, assuming dilution A A A 361 AA3621AAA A 361.8A A
A A 362.4 A Diluted earnings per share A $A 1.14A A $A 1.08A A $A 2.32A A $A 2.24 A Weighted-average
anti-dilutive common share equivalents A A A 0.3A A A A 0.8A A A A 04A A A A 0.7A A Weighted-average
common share equivalents that have an anti-dilutive impact are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per
share. A 10A Table of Contents A A Note D: Business CombinationsA Effective July 31, 2023, substantially all of the
net assets of Alterna Capital Solutions LLC (&€ceAlternad€), were acquired by a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Alterna purchases outstanding accounts receivable of their customers under non-recourse arrangements.
This acquisition allows the Company to increase and diversify its portfolio of solutions and support serving small- to
medium-sized businesses. The acquisition consideration was comprised of a base purchase price of $95.1 million plus
immediate settlement of debt totaling $128.9 million, net of $15.7 million in cash and restricted cash acquired.
Accounts receivable balances acquired, net of allowance for credit losses, and less amounts due to clients related to
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funding arrangements, totaled $146.1 million. Management determined that intangible assets related to the client list
were $18.9 million to be amortized utilizing an accelerated method of amortization over a weighted average of 8 years.
Goodwill in the amount of $46.7 million was recorded as a result of the acquisition, which is tax-deductible. The
Company finalized the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of Alterna as of November 30, 2023. The financial
results of Alterna are included in the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements from its respective date of
acquisition. This acquisition was not material to the Companya€™s results of operations, financial position, or cash
flows. A Note E: Other Income, NetA Other income, net, consisted of the following items: A A A For the three months
ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A A November 30, A In millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A
2024 A A 2023 A Interest income on corporate investments A $ A 15.8A A $A 203A A $A 35.7A A $A 41.8A
Interest expense A A A (9.5)A A A (85)A A A (19.1)A A A (179)0OtherA A A (0.7)A A A (0.1)A A A
(0.6)A A A 0.6 A Other income, netA $A 56 A A $A 11.7A A $A 16.0A A $A 24.5A A Note F: Funds Held
for Clients and Corporate InvestmentsA Funds held for clients and corporate investments were as follows:A A A
November 30,2024 A A A A A A A GrossA A GrossA A A A A A A Amortized A A unrealized A A unrealized
A A Fair A In millions A cost A A gains A A losses A A value A Typeofissue:A A AAAAAAAAAAAA
A A Funds held for clients' money market securities and other A A A restricted cash equivalents A $ A 393.8A A $ A
a€” A A $A a€” A A $ A 393.8 A AFSsecurities:s A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAA Asset backed securltles
AAA1439AAAA08AAAA(02)AAA1445ACorporatebondsAAA1407 AAAAG3IAAAA
(11.9)A A A 1,401.9 A Municipal bondsA A A 1,0482A A AA05A A A A (591)A A A 989.6A U.S.

24

government agency and treasury securities A A A 903.2A A A A 1.7A A A A (240)A A A 880.9 A Total AFS
securities A A A 3,502.8A A A A 93A A A A (952)A A A 3,416.9A Other A A A 321AAAASIAAA
A (0. 8)A A A 36.4 A Total funds held for clients and corporate investments A $ A 3,928.7A A $A 144A A $A

(960)A $A 3,847.1 A A 11A Table of Contents AA AA A A May 31,2024 A A A A A A A GrossA A Gross A
A A AA A A Amortized A A unrealized A A unrealized A A Fair A In millions A cost A A gains A A losses A A
value A Type ofissue: A A A AAAAAAAAAAAA A Funds held for clients' money market securities and
other A A A restricted cash equivalents A $ A 380.3A A $A 4€”A A $A 4€”A A $ A 380.3 A AFS securities: A A
AAAAAAAAAAAAA A Asset-backed securitiesA A A 135.7A A A A 0.1A A A A (11)AAA 134.7
A CorporatebondsA A A1,4003A AAA13AAAA 328)A A A 1,368.8A Municipal bonds A A A 1,060.1
A (86 9) 973.4 A U.S. government agency and treasury securities A A A 896.0A A A
Total AFS securities A A A 3,492.1A A A A 1.7A A A A (1642)A A A
A 32A A A A (1.6)A A A 33.9A Total funds held for clients and corporate
1nvestments A $A 3,904.7 A A $A 49A A $A (1658)A $ A 3,743.8 A A A Included in funds held for clients'
money market securities and other restricted cash equivalents as of November 30, 2024 were bank demand deposit
accounts and money market funds. A Included in asset-backed securities as of November 30, 2024 were investment-
grade securities primarily collateralized by fixed-rate auto loans and credit card receivables and all have credit ratings
of AAA. The primary risk associated with these securities is the collection of the underlying receivables. Collateral on
these asset-backed securities has performed as expected through November 30, 2024.A Included in corporate bonds as
of November 30, 2024 were investment-grade securities covering a wide range of issuers, industries, and sectors
primarily carrying credit ratings of A or better and having maturities ranging from December 15, 2024 through July 23,
2030.A Included in municipal bonds as of November 30, 2024 were general obligation bonds and revenue bonds
primarily carrying credit ratings of AA or better and have maturities ranging from December 1, 2024 through August 1,
2032.A A substantial portion of the Company's portfolios are invested in high credit quality securities with ratings of AA
or higher, and A-1/P-1 ratings on short-term securities.A The classification of funds held for clients and corporate
investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets was as follows:A A A November 30, A A May 31, A In millions A
2024 A A 2024 A Funds held for clients A $ A 3,809.1 A A $ A 3,706.2 A Corporate investments A A A 38.0A A
A A 33.9 A Long-term corporate investments A A A 46” A A A A 3.7 A Total funds held for clients and corporate
investments A $ A 3,847.1 A A $ A 3,743.8 A A A Funds held for clientsa€™ money market securities and other
restricted cash equivalents is collected from clients before due dates for payroll tax administration services and
employee payment services and is invested until remitted to the applicable tax or regulatory agencies or client
employees. Based upon the Companya€™s intent and its contractual obligation to clients, these funds are considered
restricted until they are remitted to fund these client obligations. A The Companya€™s AFS securities reflected net
unrealized losses of $85.9 million and $162.5 million as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, respectively. Included
in net unrealized losses as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, were 727 and 957 AFS securities in an unrealized
loss position, representing approximately 73% and 95% of the total securities held, respectively. AA A 12A Table of
Contents A A AFS securities in an unrealized loss position for which a credit loss has not been recognized were as
follows:A A A November 30, 2024 A A A Securities in an unrealized loss position for less than twelve months A A
Securities in an unrealized loss position for more than twelve months A A Total A A A GrossA A A A A A GrossA

AA
52.7 A
A

A AAAAGrossA AAA A A A unrealized A A Fair A A unrealized A A Fair A A unrealized A A Fair A In
millions A losses A A value A A losses A A value A A losses A A value A Type ofissue:A A A AAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAssetbackedsecurltlesA$ A (00)A $A 174A A $A (02)A $A 86A A $
A (02)A $A 26.0A CorporatebondsA A A (1.3)A A A 359.8 A A AA (106)A A A 3358AAAA (11.9)
A A A'695.6 A MunicipalbondsA A A (32)A A A 471A A A A (559)A A A 912.8A A A A (59.1)A A A
959.9 A U.S. government agency and treasury securitiesA A A (0.8)A A A 177.1A A A’ A (23.2)A A A 525.9A
AAA (240)A A A 703.0A TotalA $A (5.3)A $A 601.4A A $A (89.9)A $A 1,783.1A A $A (952)A $A
2,3845A A A A May 31,2024 A A A Securities in an unrealized loss position for less than twelve months A A
Securities in an unrealized loss position for more than twelve months A A Total A A A Gross A A A A A A Gross A
A AAAAGrossA AAA A A A unrealized A A Fair A A unrealized A A Fair A A unrealized A A Fair A In
millions A losses A A value A A losses A A value A A losses A A value A Type ofissue:A A A AAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAA Asset-backed securitiesA $A (04)A $A 774A A $A (0.7)A $A 43.0A A
$A (1.1)A $A 1204 A Corporate bonds A A A (8.4)A A A 6208A A A A (244)A A A 647.8A A A A (32.8
)A A A 1,268.6 A Municipal bonds A A A (8.0)A A A 102.5A A A A (78 9)A AAB8647A A A A (86.9)A A
A 967.2 A U.S. government agency and treasury securities A A A (6.2)A A A 2682A A A A (37.2)A A A 547.2
AAAA @434)A A A 8154A Total A $A (23.0)A $A 1,0689A A $A (141.2)A $ A 2,102.7A A $ A (164.2

)A $A 3,171.6 A A A A The Company regularly reviews its investment portfolios to determine if any investment is
impaired due to changes in credit risk or other potential valuation concerns. The Company believes the investments
held as of November 30, 2024 that had gross unrealized losses of $95.2 million were not impaired due to credit risk or



other valuation concerns, and the Company was not required to record a credit loss or an allowance for credit losses on
its AFS securities. The Company believes it is probable that the principal and interest will be collected in accordance
with contractual terms and that the unrealized losses on these securities were due to changes in interest rates and were
not due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns. A substantial portion of the securities in an unrealized loss
position as of November 30, 2024 and as of May 31, 2024 held an AA rating or better. The Company does not intend to
sell these investments until the recovery of their amortized cost basis or maturity and further believes that it is not
more-likely-than-not that it will be required to sell these investments prior to that time. The Companya€™ s assessment
that an investment is not impaired due to credit risk or other valuation concerns could change in the future due to new
developments or changes in the Companya€™ s strategies or assumptions related to any particular investment.

A Realized gains and losses on the sale of AFS securities are determined by specific identification of the cost basis of
each security. On the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income, realized gains and losses from
the funds held for clients portfolio and corporate investments portfolio are included in interest on funds held for clients
and other income, net, respectively. A 13A Table of Contents A A Realized gains and losses from the sale of AFS
securities were as follows: A A A For the three months ended A A For the six months ended A A A November 30, A
A November 30, A In millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A 2024 A A 2023 A Gross realized gains A $A 0.0A A $A 0.0
A A $A 00A A $A 0.0A GrossrealizedlossesA A A (0.0)A A A a€”A A A A (0.0)A A A (0.0) Net realized
gains/(losses) A $ A 0.0A A $A 00A A $A 0.0A A $A (0.0) A A The amortized cost and fair value of AFS
securities that had stated maturities as of November 30, 2024 are shown below by expected maturity.A A A November
30,2024 A A A Amortized A A Fair A In millions A cost A A value A Maturity date: A A A A A A A A Dueinone
yearorlessA $ A 394.3A A $ A 388.6 A Due after one year through three years A A A 1,775.9A A A A 1,713.1
A Due after three years through five years A A A 1,087.4A A A A 1,068.7 A Due after five ycars A A A 2452 A A
A A 2465A Total A $ A 3,502.8A A $A 3,416.9 A A A Variable rate demand notes (4€eVRDNsa€), when held by
the Company, are primarily categorized as due after five years in the table above as the contractual maturities on these
securities are typically 20 to 30 years. Although these securities are issued as long-term securities, they are priced and
traded as short-term instruments because of the liquidity provided through the tender feature. Note G: Fair Value
MeasurementsA Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
(an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The accounting
standards related to fair value measurements include a hierarchy for information and valuations used in measuring fair
value that is broken down into three levels based on reliability, as follows:A a4€¢Level 1 valuations are based on quoted
prices in active markets for identical instruments that the Company can access at the measurement date.A 4€¢Level 2
valuations are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the instrument,
either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability including the following:oquoted prices
for similar, but not identical, instruments in active markets;oquoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active;oinputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the instrument; oroinputs that are
derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.A 4€¢Level 3
valuations are based on information that is unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.A The
carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents, accounts receivable, net
of allowance for credit losses, PEO unbilled receivables, net of advance collections, accounts payable and short-term
borrowings, when used by the Company, approximate fair value due to the short maturities of these instruments.
Marketable securities included in funds held for clients and corporate investments consist primarily of securities
classified as AFS and are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.A 14A Table of Contents A A The Companya€™s
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurrlng basis were as follows:A A A November 30, 2024 A
AAAAAA Quoted A A Significant AAAAAAAAAA A prices in A A otherA A Significant AAA
CarrylngA A active A A observable A A unobservable A A A value A A markets A A 1nputsA A inputs A In
millions A (Fair value) A A (Level 1) A A (Level 2) A A (Level 3) A AssetssA AAAAAAAAAAAAA A A
Restricted and unrestricted cash equivalents: AAAAAAAAAAAAAAA A Moneymarket securities A $
A 209A A $ A 209A A $A a€”A A $A a€” A U.S. government agency and treasury securities A A A a€” A A
A A a€”A AAA a€”A A A A a€” A Total restricted and unrestricted cash equlvalents A $A 209A A $A 299
A A $A a€”A A $A a€” A AFS securitiess A A A A AAAAAAAAAA A A Asset-backed securities A $ A
1445A A $A a6”A A $A 1445A A $ A a€” CorporatebondsA A A 1,40
A A A A a€” A MunicipalbondsA A A 989.6 A A A A a€”A A A A 989.6A

9AAAA&AAAAI140L9
A A éf) A U.S. government _
A a€” A Total AFS securities A $
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agency and treasury securities A A A 880.9A A A A 46”A A A A 880.9A A A
A 3,4169A A $A 4€”A A $A 3,416.9 $ A a€” A OtherA $A 36.4A A $A 36.4A A $A a€”"A A $A ae”
A A A Other long-term liabilities A $ A 36.4A A $A 364A A $A
a€”A A $A a€”A AA A A May 31, 202 A A AAA A QuotedA A SignificantA A AAAAAAAAA
pricesin A A other A A Significant A A A arrylngA A active A A observable A A unobservable A A A value A
A markets A A 1nputsA A inputs A In m millions A (Fair value) A A (Level 1) A A (Level 2) A A (Level 3) A Assets:
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A A A A Money market securities A $ A
A
31
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trlcted and unrestricted cash equivalents: AAAAAAAAAAAA
A A $A 31.4A A $A a€” A A $A a€” A U.S. government agency

and treasury securities A A A 386.4 A a€” A A A A 386.4A A A A a€” A Total restricted and unrestricted

cash equivalents A $ A 417.8 A A $A A A $ 386.4A A $ A 4€” A AFSsecuritiess A A A AAAAAAA

A A A A Asset-backed securities A $ A 134.7A A $A a6€”A A $A 134.7A A $ A 4€” A Corporate bonds A
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1136ABE}AAA A A a€”A A A A 1,368.8A A A A a€” A Mun1c1pa1bondsA A A9734A A AA a€”AAA
4AAAA € A USs. government agency and treasury securities A A A 852.7A A A A 46”A A A A 852.7
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A A A a€” A Total AFS securities A $A 3,329.6 A A $A a€” A A $A 3,329.6 A A $A 4€” A Other A $ A 33

A $A 33.9A A $A a€”A A $A a€” A Liabilities:t A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAA Other long-term
liabilities A $ A 33.9A A $A 339A A $A a€”A A $ A 4€” A A A In determining the fair value of its assets and
liabilities, the Company predominately uses the market approach. Money market securities, which are cash equivalents,
are considered Level 1 investments as they are valued based on quoted market prices in active markets. Cash
equivalents also include U.S. government agency and treasury securities with original maturities of 90 days or less
which are considered Level 2 investments as they are valued based on similar, but not identical, instruments in active
markets. AFS securities, including asset-backed securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds, U.S. government agency
securities, and VRDNs, when held by the Company, are included in Level 2 and are valued utilizing inputs obtained from
an independent pricing service. To determine the fair value of the Companya€™s Level 2 AFS securities, the
independent pricing service uses a variety of inputs, including benchmark yields, reported trades, non-binding
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broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers, reference data, new issue
data, and monthly payment information. The Company has not adjusted the prices obtained from the independent
pricing service because it believes that they are appropriately valued.A A A 15A Table of Contents A A Assets included
as other are mutual fund investments, consisting of participantsa€™ eligible deferral contributions under the
Companya€™s non-qualified and unfunded deferred compensation plans. The related liability is reported as other long-
term liabilities. The mutual funds are considered Level 1 investments as they are valued based on quoted market prices
in active markets.A The Companya€™s long-term borrowings are accounted for on a historical cost basis. As of
November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, the fair value of long-term borrowings, net of debt issuance costs was $397.2
million and $391.8 million for the Senior Notes, Series A, respectively, and $395.5 million and $386.0 million for the
Senior Notes, Series B, respectively.A A The Companya€™ s long-term borrowings are not traded in active markets, and
as a result, its fair values were estimated using a market approach employing Level 2 valuation inputs, including
borrowing rates the Company believes are currently available based on loans with similar terms and maturities.A The
preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or
reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and
consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value
of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. Note H:
Supplemental InformationA Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation: Depreciation expense was $29.3
million and $56.5 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $32.0
million and $62.4 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2023, respectively. A Goodwill and
intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization: Amortization expense relating to intangible assets was $12.4 million
and $24.2 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2024, respectively, compared to $12.9 million and
$23.7 million for the three and six months ended November 30, 2023, respectively. Goodwill and intangible assets were
recorded during the six months ended November 30, 2023 related to the acquisition of Alterna. The goodwill related to
this acquisition is included in the Purchased Receivable reporting unit for goodwill impairment testing. Refer to Note D
for additional information regarding this acquisition and the impact it had on goodwill and intangible assets. The
Company did not recognize an impairment loss as it relates to its goodwill or intangible assets during the six months
ended November 30, 2024 or November 30, 2023.A Short-term financing: Outstanding borrowings on the
Companya€™s credit facilities had a weighted-average interest rate of 4.77% and 6.14% as of November 30, 2024 and
May 31, 2024, respectively. The unused amount available under these credit facilities as of November 30, 2024 was
approximately $2.0 billion. A The credit facilities contain various financial and operational covenants that are usual and
customary for such arrangements. The Company was in compliance with all of these covenants as of November 30,
2024.A Letters of credit: The Company had irrevocable standby letters of credit available totaling $165.9 million and
$168.5 million as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024, respectively, primarily to secure commitments for certain
insurance policies. The letters of credit expire at various dates between December 01, 2024 and November 23, 2025.
No amounts were outstanding on these letters of credit as of, or during the six months ended November 30, 2024 and
November 30, 2023, or as of May 31, 2024.A Long-term debt: There have been no material changes to the Company's
long-term debt agreement or balances subsequent to May 31, 2024. The Companya€™ s long-term debt agreement
contains customary representations, warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants that
are usual and customary for such arrangements. The Company was in compliance with all of these covenants as of
November 30, 2024. A Note I: Commitments and ContingenciesA Other commitments: The Company had outstanding
commitments under existing workersa€™ compensation insurance agreements and other legally binding contractual
arrangements. The Company also enters into various purchase commitments with vendors in the ordinary course of
business and had outstanding commitments to purchase capital assets of approximately $6.3 million as of November 30,
2024 and $2.9 million as of May 31, 2024.A In the normal course of business, the Company makes representations and
warranties that guarantee the performance of services under service arrangements with clients. Historically, there have
been no material losses related to such guarantees. The Company 16A Table of Contents A A has also entered into
indemnification agreements with its officers, directors, and fiduciaries of certain of our retirement plans, which require
the Company to defend and, if necessary, indemnify these individuals for certain pending or future claims as they relate
to their services provided to the Company.A The Company currently self-insures the deductible portion of various
insured exposures under certain corporate employee and PEO employee health and medical benefit plans. The
Companya€™s estimated loss exposure under these insurance arrangements is recorded in other current liabilities on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Historically, the amounts accrued have not been material and were not material as of
November 30, 2024. The Company also maintains insurance, in addition to its purchased primary insurance policies, for
gap coverage for employment practices liability, errors and omissions, warranty liability, theft and embezzlement, cyber
threats, and acts of terrorism, as well as capacity for deductibles and self-insured retentions through its captive
insurance company.A Contingencies: The Company is subject to various claims and legal matters that arise in the
normal course of its business. These include disputes or potential disputes related to breach of contract, tort,
employment-related claims, tax claims, statutory, and other matters.A The Companya€™s management currently
believes that resolution of any outstanding legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Companya€™s
financial position or results of operations. However, legal matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and there exists
the possibility that the ultimate resolution of these matters could have a material adverse impact on the Companya€™s
financial position and results of operations in the period in which any such effects are recorded. Note J: Income

TaxesA The Companya€™s effective income tax rate was 24.0% and 23.6% for the three and six months ended
November 30, 2024, respectively, compared to 24.2% and 23.9% for the three and six months ended November 30,
2023, respectively. All periods were impacted by the recognition of excess tax benefits related to employee stock-based
compensation payments. 17A Table of Contents A A Item 2. Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations A Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations reviews the operating results of Paychex, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (a€cePaychex,a€ the
a€eCompany,a€ a€cewe,a€ d€ceour,a€ or a€oeusa€) for the three months ended November 30, 2024 (the a€cesecond
quartera€), the six months ended November 30, 2024 (the "six months"), the respective prior year periods ended
November 30, 2023 (the &€ceprior year periodsa€), and our financial condition as of November 30, 2024. The focus of
this review is on the underlying business reasons for material changes and trends affecting our revenue, expenses, net
income, and financial condition. This review should be read in conjunction with the November 30, 2024 consolidated
financial statements and the related Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (d€ceForm 10-Qa€). This review should also be read in conjunction with our Annual



Report on Form 10-K (a€eForm 10-Ka€) for the year ended May 31, 2024 (&€cefiscal 20244€). Forward-looking
statements in this Form 10-Q are qualified by the cautionary statement included under the next sub-heading,
a€oeCautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.4€ A Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements A Certain written statements made in this Form 10-Q may contain, and members of management may from
time to time make or discuss statements which constitute, a€ceforward-looking statementsa€ within the meaning of the
safe harbor provisions of the United States (4€0eU.S.4€) Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-
looking statements can be identified by such words and phrases as a€eexpect,a€ a€oeoutlook,a€ a€cewill,a€
d€ceguidance,a€ a€oeprojections,a€ d€cestrategy,a€ a€cemission,a€ d€ceanticipate,a€ a€oebelieve,a€ a€mecan,a€
d€cecould,a€ a€oedesign,a€ d€cemay,a€ a€mepossible,a€ a€mepotential,a€ d€ceshould,a€ and other similar words or
phrases. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, all matters that are not historical facts. Examples of
forward-looking statements include, among others, statements we make regarding operating performance, events, or
developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the future, including statements relating to our outlook, revenue
growth, earnings, earnings-per-share growth, and similar projections. A Forward-looking statements are neither
historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations,
and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and
trends, the economy, and other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are
subject to known and unknown uncertainties, risks, changes in circumstances, and other factors that are difficult to
predict, many of which are outside our control. Our actual performance and outcomes, including without limitation, our
actual results and financial condition, may differ materially from those indicated in or suggested by the forward-looking
statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors that could
cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking
statements include, among others, the following: A a€¢our ability to keep pace with changes in technology or provide
timely enhancements to our solutions and support; a€¢software defects, undetected errors, and development delays for
our solutions; a€¢the possibility of cyberattacks, security vulnerabilities or Internet disruptions, including data security
and privacy leaks and data loss and business interruptions; d€¢the possibility of failure of our business continuity plan
during a catastrophic event; a4€¢the failure of third-party service providers to perform their functions; a€¢the possibility
that we may be exposed to additional risks related to our co-employment relationship with our professional employer
organization (4€cePEOa€) business; a€¢changes in health insurance and workersa€™ compensation insurance rates and
underlying claim trends; a€¢risks related to acquisitions and the integration of the businesses we acquire; a€¢our
clientsa€™ failure to reimburse us for payments made by us on their behalf; &€¢the effect of changes in government
regulations mandating the amount of tax withheld or the timing of remittances; a€¢our failure to comply with covenants
in our debt agreements; a€¢changes in governmental regulations, laws, and policies; a€¢our ability to comply with U.S.
and foreign laws and regulations; a€¢our compliance with data privacy and artificial intelligence laws and regulations;
a€¢our failure to protect our intellectual property rights; a€¢potential outcomes related to pending or future litigation
matters; a€¢the impact of macroeconomic factors on the U.S. and global economy, and in particular on our small- and
medium-sized business clients; a€¢volatility in the political and economic environment, including inflation and interest
rate changes; 4€¢our ability to attract and retain qualified people; and 18A Table of Contents A A 4€¢the possible
effects of negative publicity on our reputation and the value of our brand. Any of these factors, as well as other factors
discussed in our Form 10-K for fiscal 2024 or in our other periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(4€®@SECa€), could cause our actual results to differ materially from our anticipated results. The information provided
in this Form 10-Q is based upon the facts and circumstances known as of the date of this report, and any forward-
looking statements made by us in this Form 10-Q speak only as of the date on which they are made. Except as required
by law, we undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements after the date of filing this Form 10-Q
with the SEC to reflect events or circumstances after such date, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. A
Our investor presentation regarding the financial results for the second quarter is available and accessible on our
Paychex Investor Relations portal at https://investor.paychex.com. Information available on our website is not a part of,
and is not incorporated into, this Form 10-Q. We intend to make future investor presentations available exclusively on
our Paychex Investor Relations portal. A Overview A We are an industry-leading human capital management
(&4€eHCMa<€) company delivering a full suite of technology and advisory services in human resources (&€ceHRa€),
employee benefit solutions, insurance and payroll processing for small- to medium-sized businesses and their employees
across the U.S. and parts of Europe. A We offer a full range of integrated HCM solutions from hire to retire for
businesses and their employees. Clients may choose from a breadth of solutions that cover the spectrum of the
employee life cycle, but we also allow integrations with popular HR, accounting, point-of-sale, and productivity
applications available on the market today. A We support our small-business clients by utilizing our proprietary, robust,
software as a service (A&€ceSaaSa€) Paychex FlexA® platform and the Companya€™s SurePayrollA® SaaS-based
solutions. Our medium-sized clients generally have more complex payroll and employee benefit needs, though with the
environment of increasing regulations, we believe the need for HR outsourcing services has been moving down-market.
Any of our clients on Paychex Flex can opt for the integrated suite of HCM solutions, which allows clients to choose the
service and software solutions that will meet the needs of their businesses. A Our portfolio of technology, HR advisory,
and employee benefits-related solutions is disaggregated into two categories, (1) Management Solutions and (2) PEO
and Insurance Solutions, as discussed under the heading &€ceDescription of Solutionsa€ in Part I, Item 1 of our Form
10-K for fiscal 2024. A Our mission is to be the leading provider of HR, employee benefits, insurance, and payroll
solutions by being an essential partner to small- and medium-sized businesses across the U.S. and parts of Europe. Our
strategy focuses on providing industry-leading, integrated technology; delivering superior customer experiences;
expanding our leadership in HR; growing our client bases; and engaging in strategic acquisitions. We believe that
successfully executing this strategy will lead to strong, long-term financial performance. A We maintain industry-
leading margins by managing our personnel costs and expenses while continuing to invest in our business, particularly
in sales and marketing and leading-edge technology. We believe these investments are critical to our success. Looking
to the future, we believe that investing in our solutions, people, and digital capabilities will position us to capitalize on
opportunities for long-term growth. A We closely monitor the evolving challenges and needs of small- and mid-sized
businesses, and proactively aid our clients in navigating macroeconomic challenges, legislative changes, and other
complexities they may face. Through our unique blend of innovative technology solutions, backed by our extensive
compliance and HR expertise, we help clients more effectively hire, develop, and retain top talent in this challenging
workforce environment. Our ongoing investments in our platforms have prepared us well for the demands of the current
business and regulatory environments, allowing us to adapt while maintaining strong solutions and support delivery,



resulting in high levels of client satisfaction and retention. A 19A Table of Contents A A Second Quarter and Year to
Date Business Highlights A Highlights compared to the prior year periods are as follows: A A A For the three months
ended A A A A A For the six months ended A A A A A A November 30,A A A A A November30,A A A A In
millions, except per share amounts A 2024 A 2023 A Change(2) A 2024 A 2023 A Change(2) Total service revenue A

$A 1,2808A A A $A 1,2264A A AA 4 A%A$A25618A A $A 2479.7A A A A 3A % Total revenue
A $A 1,316.9A A A $A 1,2579A A A A 5A % A$A26354AAA$A2,543.9AAAA4A%Operat1ng
income A $ A 538.1A A A $A 506.2 A AAA6A %A $A 1,084.8A A A $A 1,0425A A A A 4A %Net
income A $A 4134A A A $A 3927A AAAS5A %A $A 8408A A A $A 811.9A A A A 4A % Adjusted net
1ncome(1)A$A4110AAA$A396 AAASA%A$A832.2AAA$A806.7AAAA3A%Diluted
earnings per share A $ A 1.14A A A $A 1.08A A A A6A %A $A232AAA$A22AAAA4LA%
Adjusted diluted earnings per share(1) A $ A 1.14A A A $A 1.08A A AAG6A %A $A 230A A

A $A 223A
A AA3A %D1v1dendspa1dtostockholdersA $A 3528A A A $A 3202A A A A 10A %A $A 7062A A A
A 6421A A A A 10A %A A A (1)Adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share are not U.S.
generally accepted accounting principle (€0 GAAPa€) measures. Refer to the a€eNon-GAAP Financial Measuresa€
section of this Item 2 for a discussion of non-GAAP measures and a reconciliation to the U.S. GAAP measures of net
income and diluted earnings per share. (2)Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers. A For
further analysis of our results of operations for the second quarter and six months, the prior year periods, and our
financial position as of November 30, 2024, refer to the tables and analysis in the 4€ceResults of Operationsa€ and
d€celiquidity and Capital Resourcesa€ sections of this Item 2. A RESULTS OF OPERATIONS A Summary of Results of
Operations: A A For the three months ended A A A A A For the six months ended A A A A A A November 30, A

A A A A November 30,A A A A In millions, except per share amounts A 2024 A 2023 A Change(1) A 2024 A 2023
A Change(1) Revenue: A A AAAAAA A A A
Solutions A $ A 962.9A A A $A 930.7A
and Insurance Solutions AAA A317 9A A A
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A A 4 A % Total expenses A A A 778

A A A 3A % Operating income A A A 538.1 A A

A A 4 A % Other income, netA A A 5.6 A A

n/m A A Income before income taxes A A A
7.

23.9A %A A A A NetincomeA $A 413.4A A A $A 392.7A A A
AA4A %D11utedearn1ngspershareA $A 1.14A A A $A 1.08A A A
AG6A %A $A 2 32A A A $A 2 24A A AA4A %A (1) Percentage changes are calculated based on unrounded
numbers. n/m 4€” not meaningful A Total revenue increased to $1.3 billion for the second quarter and $2.6 billion for
the six months, reflecting increases of 5% and 4% respectively, compared to the prior year periods. Excluding the
impact of the expiration of the Employee Retention Tax Credit ("ERTC") program, revenue growth for the second
quarter and the six months was 7% and 6% respectively. The changes in revenue as compared to the prior year periods
were primarily driven by the following factors: A 20A Table of Contents A A 4€¢Management Solutions revenue:
$962.9 million for the second quarter and $1.9 billion for the six months, reflecting increases of 3% and 2%,
respectively: oGrowth in the number of clients served across our suite of HCM solutions and client worksite employees
for HR solutions; oHigher product penetration, including HR solutions and retirement; and oLower revenue from
ancillary services, primarily due to the expiration of our ERTC program. A 4€¢PEO and Insurance Solutions revenue:
$317.9 million for the second quarter and $637.2 million for the six months, reflecting increases of 7% for each period:
oGrowth in the number of average PEO worksite employees; and oIncrease in PEO insurance revenues. A a€¢Interest
on funds held for clients: $36.1 million for the second quarter and $73.6 million for the six months, reflecting increases
of 15% for each period, primarily due to higher average interest rates and average investment balances. A We invest in
highly liquid, investment-grade fixed income securities and do not utilize derivative instruments to manage interest rate
risk. A Details regarding our combined funds held for clients and corporate cash equivalents and investment portfolios
were as follows: A A For the three months ended A A A A A For the six months ended A A A A A A November 30,
A A A A A November30,A A A A $in millions A 2024 A 2023 A Change(1) A 2024 A 2023 A Change(1) Average
investment balancess A A A A AAAAAAAA AAA A AAAAAF unds ‘held for clients
A $A 42523A A A $A 40363AAAA5A% ,269.2 A A A 4 A % Corporate
cash equlvalents and investments A A A 1,4714A A 1, 40.3 A
A (5)%Total A $ A 5,723.7A A A $A 55766 A A A
A % Average interest rates earned (exclusive of net realized gains): A A A
A A A A A A Funds held forclients A A A 3.4A A%A AA31AA%
A% A A A A Cor porate cash equivalents and investments A A A 43A A% %
A A 51A A% A A A A Combined funds held for clients and corporate cash equlvalents
%A AA37AA%AAAAAAA38AA%AAA3TAA%AAAAAA
A A A A A Total net realized gains/(losses) A $ A 0.0A A A
(0.0) AAAAI(Q) Percentage changes are calculated based on
unrounded numbers A A A November 30, A May 31, $ in millions A 2024 A 2024 Net unrealized losses on available
A 162.5) A FederalFundsrate(Z)AAA475A %A A A
5.50 A % Total fair value of AFS securities A $ A 3,416.9A A A $A 3,329.6A A Weighted-average duration of AFS
securities in years (3)A A A 24A A A A A 2.7 A A Weighted-average yield-to-maturity of AFS securities (3) A A
A 31A %A A A 3.0A %A (1) The net unrealized loss on our investment portfolio was approximately $103.3 million
as of December 18, 2024. Refer to Note F in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the "Market Risk
Factors" caption contained in this Form 10-Q for more information regarding AFS securities held in an unrealized loss
position. (2) The Federal Funds rate was in the range of 4.50% to 4.75% as of November 30, 2024 and 5.25% to 5.50%
as of May 31, 2024. Effective December 19, 2024, the Federal Reserve decreased the Federal Funds rate to a range of
4.25% to 4.50%. (3) These items exclude the impact of variable rate demand notes (&€0eVRDNsa€) as they are tied to
short-term interest rates. 21A Table of Contents A A Total expenses: The following table summarizes the total
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combined cost of service revenue and selling, general and administrative expenses for the periods below AA
three months ended A A A A A A For the six months ended A A A A A A A November 30, AAAAA
November 30, A A A A A In millions A 2024A A 2023 A A Cha e(1)A 20 4 A 2023A A Change(

N

Compensation-related expenses A $ A 4544 A A $ A 452.6AAAO %A $A 905.7A A $A 9079A A A (0)%
PEO direct insurance costs A A A 130.8A A A A 1115A A A 17A %AAA 611AAAA221.7AAA18A
% Depreciation and amortization A A A 41.7A A A A 449A A A (7)%A A A 80.7A A A AB8.1AAA (6)%
Other expenses A A A 151.9A A A A 1427A A A 6A %A A A 3031A A A A 285.7A A A 6A % Total

expensesA $A 778 8A A $A 751.7A A A 4A %A $A 1,5506A A $A 1,501.4A A A 3A % (1) Percentage
changes are calculated based on unrounded numbers. A Total expenses increased 4% to $778.8 million for the second
quarter and 3% to $1.6 billion for the six months, compared to the prior year periods. Total expenses increased as a
result of the following: A a€¢PEO direct insurance costs: $130.8 million for the second quarter and $261.1 million for
the six months, reflecting increases of 17% and 18% respectively, related to growth in average worksite employees and
PEO insurance revenues. a€¢Other expenses: $151.9 million for the second quarter and $303.1 million for the six
months, reflecting an increase of 6% for each period, primarily related to continued investment in technology, sales,
and marketing. A Operating income: Operating income increased 6% to $538.1 million for the second quarter and 4%
to $1.1 billion for the six months, as a result of revenue growth which outpaced expense increases as previously
discussed. Operating income for both periods was impacted by the expiration of the ERTC program. A Operating
margin (operating income as a percentage of total revenue) was as follows: A A A For the three months ended A For
the six months ended A A November 30, A November 30, A A 2024 A 2023 A 2024 A 2023 Operating margin A A
409A %A A 402A %A A 412A %A A 41.0 A % A Other income, net: Other income, net decreased $6.1 million
to $5.6 million for the second quarter and $8.5 million to $16.0 million for the six months, primarily as a result of lower
average interest rates earned on our corporate investments as well as lower average investment balances. Income
taxes: Our effective income tax rate was 24.0% for the second quarter and 23.6% for the six months, compared to
24.2% and 23.9%, for the prior year periods, respectively. All periods were impacted by the recognition of excess tax
benefits related to employee stock-based compensation payments. 22A Table of Contents A A Non-GAAP Financial
Measures: Adjusted net income, adjusted diluted earnings per share, and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
and amortization (a€erBITDAa€) are summarized as follows: A A For the three monthg ended A A A A A A For the

six months ended A A A A A A A November30,A A A A A A November 30,A A A A A $in millions A 2024 A
A 2023 A A Change A 2024 A A 2023 A A Change Netincome A $ A 413.4A A $A 3927A A A 5A %A $A
840.8A A $A 811.9A A A 4A % Non-GAAP adjustments: A A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A A Excess tax benefits related to employee stock-based compensation payments(1) A A A (24)A A A (1.1)A A
AAAAA@B6)AAA B2)AA AdjustednetmcomeA $A 411.0A A $A 3916 A A ASA %A $A
832.2A A $A 806.7A A A 3A /AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAADﬂutedearnmgs
per share(2) A $ A 1.14A A $A 1.08A A A6A %A $A 232A A $A 224A A A 4A %Non-GAAP
adjustments: A A A AAAAA AAAAAAA A AAAAAA A A Excess tax benefits related to employee
stock-based compensation payments(1) A A A (0.01)A A A a€”A A A A AAAA (002)AAA (001)AAA
A Adjusted diluted earnings per share A $ A 1.14 A A $A 1.08A A A 6A %A $A 230A A $A 223A A A 3A
%AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAANetincomeA $A 4134A A $A 3927A A AS5A
%A $A 840.8A A $A 811.9A A A 4A % Non-GAAP adjustments: A A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A A A A A A Interestincome, netA A A 6.3)A A A (11.8)A AAAAAA (166)A A A 239)A A A A
Income taxesA A A 130.3A A A A 1252A A A A A A A A 2600A A A A 2551A A A A A Depreciation and
amortization expense A A A 41.7A A A A 49A AAAAAAAS8.7AAAA8.1A A A A A Total non-
GAAP adjustments A A A 165.7A A A A 1583A A AAAAAA3241AAAA3173A A A A A EBITDAA $

A 579.1A A $A 551.0A A AS5A %A $A 1,1649A A $A 1,1292A A A 3A % A (1) Excess tax benefits
related to employee stock-based compensation payments recognized in income taxes. This item is subject to volatility
and will vary based on employee decisions on exercising employee stock options and fluctuations in our stock price,
neither of which is within the control of management. (2) The calculation of the impact of non-GAAP adjustments on
diluted earnings per share is performed on each line independently. The table may not add down by +/- $0.01 due to
rounding. A In addition to reporting net income and diluted earnings per share, which are U.S. GAAP measures, we
present adjusted net income, adjusted diluted earnings per share, and EBITDA, which are non-GAAP measures. We
believe these additional measures are indicators of our core business operationsa€™ performance period over period.
Adjusted net income, adjusted diluted earnings per share, and EBITDA are not calculated through the application of
U.S. GAAP and are not required forms of disclosure by the SEC. As such, they should not be considered a substitute for
the U.S. GAAP measures of net income and diluted earnings per share, and, therefore, they should not be used in
isolation, but in conjunction with the U.S. GAAP measures. The use of any non-GAAP measure may produce results that
vary from the U.S. GAAP measure and may not be comparable to a similarly defined non-GAAP measure used by other
companies. A LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES A Our financial position as of November 30, 2024 remained
strong with cash, restricted cash, and total corporate investments of $1.3 billion. Short-term borrowings of $18.2
million and long-term borrowings of $800.0 million were outstanding as of November 30, 2024. Our unused capacity
under our unsecured credit facilities was approximately $2.0 billion as of November 30, 2024. Our primary source of
cash is our ongoing operations, which was $841.1 million for the six months. Our positive cash flows have allowed us to
support our business, and pay dividends. We currently anticipate that corporate cash, corporate restricted cash, and
total corporate investments as of November 30, 2024, along with projected operating cash flows and available short-
term financing, will support our business operations, capital purchases, primarily investment in our technology
solutions, share repurchases, dividend payments, and the servicing of long-term debt for the foreseeable future. A 23A
Table of Contents A A For client funds liquidity, we have the ability to borrow on our unsecured credit facilities or use
corporate liquidity when necessary to meet short-term funding needs related to client fund obligations. Historically, we
have borrowed, typically on an overnight basis, to settle short-term client fund obligations, rather than liquidate
previously collected client funds invested in our long-term AFS portfolio. We believe that our investments in an
unrealized loss position as of November 30, 2024 were not impaired due to increased credit risk or other valuation
concerns, nor has any event occurred subsequent to that date to indicate any change in our assessment. We do not
intend to sell these investments until recovery of their amortized cost basis or maturity and further believe that it is not
more-than-likely that we would be required to sell these investments prior to that time. A Financing Short-term
financing: We maintain committed and unsecured credit facilities and irrevocable letters of credit as part of our normal
and recurring business operations. The purpose of these credit facilities is to meet short-term funding requirements,



finance working capital needs, and for general corporate purposes. We typically borrow on an overnight or short-term
basis under our credit facilities. Refer to Note M of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8
of our Form 10-K for fiscal 2024 for further discussion of our credit facilities. Details of our credit facilities as of
November 30, 2024 were as follows: A A A A A Maximum A A A November 30, 2024 A A A A A AmountA A A
Outstanding A A A Available A $ in millions A Expiration Date A A Available A A A Amount A A A Amount A
Credit facilities: A A A AAAAAAAAA A A JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (a€oe]PMa€) A April 12, 2029 A $A
1,0000A A $A -A A $A 1,000.0A JPMA September 17, 2026 A $ A 750.0A A A A -A A A A 750.0 A PNC
Bank, National Association (4€0ePNC4&€) A February 6, 2026 A $ A 250.0A A A A 18 2A A A A 231.8A Total
Lines of Credit Outstanding and Available A A A A A A A $A 182A A $A 1,981.8 A A Amounts outstanding
under the PNC credit facility as of November 30, 2024 remain outstanding as of the date of this report. Details of
borrowings under each credit facility during the second quarter were as follows: A A A For the three months ended
November 30, 2024 A A A A Credit Facility A A A A $1BillionA A A A $750MillionA A A A $250 Million A A
$ in millions A A JPMA A A A JPMA A A A PNCA A Number of days borrowed A A A 3A A A A A a€”A A
A A A 91 A A Maximum amount borrowed A $ A 201.5A A A $A a€”A A A $ A 243.9 A A Weighted-average
amount borrowed A $ A 104.3A A A $A a€”A A A $A 26.0 A A Weighted-average interest rate A A A 8.22 A
%A A A a€”A %A A A 554 A %A We primarily use short-term borrowings to settle client fund obligations, rather
than liquidating previously collected client funds invested in our long-term AFS investment portfolio. We expect to have
access to the amounts available under our current credit facilities to meet our ongoing financial needs. However, if we
experience reductions in our operating cash flows due to any of the risk factors outlined in, but not limited to, Item 1A
in our Form 10-K for fiscal 2024 and other SEC filings, we may need to adjust our capital, operating and other
discretionary spending to realign our working capital requirements with the capital resources available to us.
Furthermore, if we determine the need for additional short-term liquidity, there is no assurance that such financing, if
pursued and obtained, would be adequate or on terms acceptable to us. A 24A Table of Contents A A Letters of credit:
As of November 30, 2024, we had irrevocable standby letters of credit available totaling $165.9 million, primarily to
secure commitments for certain insurance policies. The letters of credit expire at various dates between December 01,
2024 and November 23, 2025. No amounts were outstanding on these letters of credit during the second quarter or as
of November 30, 2024. A Long-term financing: We have borrowed $800.0 million through the issuance of long-term
private placement debt. Refer to Note N of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements contained in Item 8 of our
Form 10-K for fiscal 2024 for further discussion on our long-term financing. A Other commitments: We had outstanding
commitments under existing workersd€™ compensation insurance agreements and legally binding contractual
arrangements. We also entered into various purchase commitments with vendors in the ordinary course of business and
had outstanding commitments to purchase approximately $6.3 million of capital assets as of November 30, 2024. In
addition, we are involved in three limited partnership agreements to contribute a maximum of $30.0 million to venture
capital funds in the financial technology sector. As of November 30, 2024, we have contributed approximately $24.1
million of the total funding commitment. A In the normal course of business, we make representations and warranties
that guarantee the performance of services under service arrangements with clients. Historically, there have been no
material losses related to such guarantees. We have also entered into indemnification agreements with our officers,
directors, and fiduciaries of certain of our retirement plans, which require us to defend and, if necessary, indemnify
these individuals for certain pending or future legal claims as they relate to their services provided to us. A We
currently self-insure the deductible portion of various insured exposures under certain corporate and PEO employee
health and medical benefit plans. Our estimated loss exposure under these insurance arrangements is recorded in other
current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Historically, the amounts accrued have not been material and
were not material as of November 30, 2024. We also maintain corporate insurance coverage in addition to our
purchased primary insurance policies for gap coverage for employment practices liability, errors and omissions,
warranty liability, theft and embezzlement, cyber threats, and acts of terrorism; and capacity for deductibles and self-
insured retention through our captive insurance company. Operating, Investing, and Financing Cash Flow Activities
Primary sources of cash, restricted cash, and equivalents are through collections for services rendered to our customers
and interest earned on funds held for clients and corporate investments. Primary uses of cash include employee
compensation and contractual obligations related to business operations, cash dividends paid, share repurchases,
purchases of property and equipment, and acquisitions. Our investment portfolio incorporates both corporate cash and
funds held for clients. Interest rates, market conditions, and our volatile cash flows are among several factors
influencing our investment strategy directing the mix between long-term and VRDN AFS securities compared to short-
term restricted cash and cash equivalents held in the investment portfolio. An investment portfolio strategy that favors
larger balances held in restricted cash and cash equivalents may impact our investing activities due to the offsetting
activity in the purchases and sales or maturities of AFS investments. Our cash flows include certain activities that are
short-term in nature and have an impact on short-term cash flows due to timing of collection and settlement of
obligations as follows: a€¢PEO receivables and worksite-employee ("WSE") accrued compensation: PEO receivables and
WSE accrued compensation fluctuate based on either/both: (1) the timing of the payroll cut-off date and the
Companya€™s month-end close, and (2) the timing of when cash is collected from the customer, and it is remitted to
either the WSE for wages earned or applicable tax or regulatory agencies for payroll taxes. PEO accounts receivable
collections and compensation payments to WSEs and applicable tax or regulatory agencies are settled through our
corporate cash and the fluctuations impact our operating activities. a€¢Client fund obligations: Client fund obligations
liability will vary based on the timing of when cash is collected from the clients and when it is remitted to employees of
the clients utilizing employee payment services or applicable tax or regulatory agencies for payroll tax administration
services. Collections from clients are typically remitted from one to 30 days after receipt, with some items extending to
90 days. Fluctuations in client fund obligations impact financing activities. 25A Table of Contents AA A Summarized
operating, investing, and financing cash flow information for the six months and the prior period: A A A For the six
months ended A A A A A A A November 30,A A A A A In millions A 2024 A A 2023 A A A Change A Net cash
prov1ded by operating activities A $ A 841.1A A $A 1,004.3A A $A (163.2) Net cash used in 1nvest1ng activities

A A A (302.7) A A A (109.7)A A A (193.0) Net cash (used in)/provided by flnancmg activities A A A (776.4) A
A 532.3 A A A A (1,308.7 ) Net change in cash, restricted cash, and equivalents A $ A (238.0)A $ A 1,426.9 A
$A (1,6649)AAAAAAAAAAAA Cashdividends per common share A $A 1.96 A A $A 1.78A A A
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A A A The changes in our cash flow for the six months compared to the prior year period were primarily the result
of the following key drivers: Operating Cash Flow Activities Fiscal 2025 a€¢Net income attributable to the reasons
discussed in the a€ceResults of Operationsa€ section of this Item 2; offset by a€¢Net increase in prepaid income taxes



due to the timing of estimated tax payments as compared to the accrual of income tax expense; a€¢Net changes in PEO
assets and liabilities as a result of the timing of cash collected and the settlement of payroll taxes; and a€¢A net
decrease in accrued corporate compensation primarily due to the settlement of fiscal 2024 year-end bonuses. Fiscal
2024 a€¢Net income attributable to the reasons discussed in the d€oeResults of Operationsa€ section of this Item 2; 4€
¢Net changes in PEO assets and liabilities as a result of the timing of cash collected and the settlement of payroll taxes;
a€¢A net increase in refunds owed to our PEO clients related to tax benefits allowed under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act; offset by &€¢A net decrease in accrued corporate compensation primarily due to the
settlement of fiscal 2023 year-end bonuses; a€¢Increase in trade receivables due to timing of payroll operational cut-off
and month-end and timing of cash collections on billing for ancillary services; and a&€¢Net increase in prepaid income
taxes due to the timing of estimated tax payments as compared to the accrual of income tax expense. A Investing Cash
Flow Activities Fiscal 2025 a€¢Net purchases of short-term accounts receivable due to an increase in our client base,
the timing of cash collections on outstanding receivables and cash settlement of the related reserve; a€¢Cash used to
develop and enhance our client facing internal-use software and the acquisition of third-party customer lists; and a€
¢Net purchases of AFS securities related to investment in our long-term portfolio. A Fiscal 2024 4€¢Cash used for the
acquisition of Alterna Capital Solutions, LL.C and settlement of its outstanding debt at closing. Refer to Note D of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of this transaction; 26A Table of Contents A A a€
¢Net purchase of short-term accounts receivable due to an increase in our client base, and funding to existing client
base, and the timing of net cash collections; and 4€¢Cash used to develop and enhance our client facing internal-use
software and the acquisition of third-party customer lists; offset by a€¢Net sales from AFS securities primarily due to a
shift from investing in VRDNSs to reinvesting in cash and cash equivalents due to more favorable interest rates. We had
no VRDN holdings as of November 30, 2023 compared to $344.1 million as of May 31, 2023. Financing Cash Flow
Activities Fiscal 2025 a€¢Cumulative dividends paid at $1.96 per share. The payment of future dividends is dependent
on our future earnings and cash flow and is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors (the "Board"); and a€
¢Cash used to repurchase 0.8 million shares of our common stock at a weighted average price of $125.50 per share
during the six months. All repurchased shares were retired upon acquisition; offset by a€¢Increase in client fund
obligations related to the timing of collections and remittances of client funds. Fiscal 2024 &€¢Increase in client fund
obligations related to the timing of collections and remittances of client funds. The accrual balance as of May 31, 2023
was impacted by the deferral of semi-weekly payroll tax payments due to the Memorial Day holiday; offset by &€
¢Cumulative dividends paid at $1.78 per share. The payment of future dividends is dependent on our future earnings
and cash flow and is subject to the discretion of our Board; and a€¢Cash used to repurchase 1.5 million shares of our
common stock at a weighted average price of $115.37 per share during the six months ended November 30, 2023. All
repurchases were retired upon acquisition. MARKET RISK FACTORS A Changes in interest rates and interest rate risk:
Funds held for clients are primarily comprised of short-term funds and AFS securities. Corporate investments are
primarily comprised of AFS securities. As a result of our investing activities, we are exposed to changes in interest rates
that may materially affect our results of operations and financial position. Changes in interest rates will impact the
earnings potential of future investments and will cause fluctuations in the fair value of our long-term AFS securities. We
follow an investment strategy of protecting principal and optimizing liquidity. A substantial portion of our portfolios is
invested in high credit quality securities with ratings of AA or higher, and A-1/P-1 ratings on short-term securities. We
invest predominantly in corporate bonds; municipal bonds; U.S. government agency securities; and VRDNs when
available in the market. We limit the amounts that can be invested in any single issuer and invest primarily in short- to
intermediate-term instruments whose fair value is less sensitive to interest rate changes. We manage the AFS securities
to a benchmark duration of two to three and one-quarter years. A During the six months, our primary short-term
investment vehicles were U.S. government agency discount notes and bank demand deposit accounts. We have no
exposure to high-risk or non-liquid investments. We have insignificant exposure to European investments. We have not
and do not utilize derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk. A During the six months, the
average interest rate earned on our combined funds held for clients and corporate cash equivalents and investment
portfolios was 3.8% compared to 3.7% for the prior year period. When interest rates are falling, the full impact of lower
interest rates will not immediately be reflected in net income due to the interaction of short- and long-term interest rate
changes. During a falling interest rate environment, earnings will decrease from our short-term investments, and over
time, decrease from our longer-term AFS securities. Earnings from AFS securities, which as of November 30, 2024 had
an average duration of 2.4 years, would not reflect decreases in interest rates until the investments are sold or mature
and the proceeds are reinvested at lower rates. A 27A Table of Contents A A The amortized cost and fair value of AFS
securities that had stated maturities as of November 30, 2024 are shown below by expected maturity. A A November
30,2024 A A A Amortized A A Fair A In millions A cost A A value A Maturity date: A A A A A A A A Due in one
yearorlessA $ A 394.3A A $ A 388.6 A Due after one year through three years A A A 1,775.9A A A A 1,713.1
A Due after three years through five years A A A 1,087.4A A A A 1,068.7 A Due after five ycars A A A 2452 A A
A A 246.5A Total A $ A 3,502.8A A $A 3,416.9 A A A VRDNs, when held by us, are primarily categorized as due
after five years in the table above as the contractual maturities on these securities are typically 20 to 30 years. Although
these securities are issued as long-term securities, they are priced and traded as short-term instruments because of the
liquidity provided through the tender feature. A As of November 30, 2024, the Federal Funds rate was in the range of
4.50% to 4.75%. Effective December 19, 2024, the Federal Reserve decreased the Federal Funds rate to a range of
4.25% to 4.50%. There continues to be uncertainty in the changing market and economic conditions, including the
possibility of additional measures that could be taken by the Federal Reserve and other government agencies related to
the overall macroeconomic environment. We will continue to monitor the market and economic conditions. A
Calculating the future effects of changing interest rates involves many factors. These factors include, but are not limited
to: A a€¢governmental action to address inflation and/or intervene to support financial markets; &€¢daily interest rate
changes; a€¢seasonal variations in investment balances; d€¢actual duration of short-term and AFS securities; a€¢the
proportion of taxable and tax-exempt investments; a€¢changes in tax-exempt municipal rates versus taxable investment
rates, which are not synchronized or simultaneous; and a€c¢financial market volatility and the resulting effect on
benchmark and other indexing interest rates. A Subject to these factors and under normal financial market conditions,
a 25-basis-point change in taxable interest rates generally affects our tax-exempt interest rates by approximately 19
basis points. Under normal financial market conditions, the impact to earnings from a 25-basis-point change in short-
term interest rates would be approximately $5.0 million to $5.5 million, after taxes, for a twelve-month period. Such a
basis point change may or may not be tied to changes in the Federal Funds rate. A Our total investment portfolio (funds
held for clients and corporate cash equivalents and investments) is expected to average approximately $6.2 billion for



the year ending May 31, 2025. Our anticipated allocation is approximately 45% invested in short-term securities and
VRDNs with an average duration of less than 30 days and 55% invested in AFS securities, with an average duration of
two to three and one-quarter years. A The combined funds held for clients and corporate AFS securities reflected net
unrealized losses of $85.9 million as of November 30, 2024 and $162.5 million as of May 31, 2024. During the six
months, the net unrealized loss on our investment portfolios ranged from a loss of $162.5 million to a loss of $46.7
million. These fluctuations were driven by changes in market rates of interest. The net unrealized loss on our
investment portfolio was approximately $103.3 million as of December 18, 2024. A As of November 30, 2024 and May
31, 2024, we had $3.4 billion and $3.3 billion, respectively, invested in AFS securities at fair value. The weighted-
average yield-to-maturity was 3.1% as of November 30, 2024 and 3.0% as of May 31, 2024. The weighted-average yield-
to-maturity excludes AFS securities tied to short-term interest rates, such as VRDNs, when held. Assuming a
hypothetical decrease in longer-term interest rates of 25 basis points, the resulting potential increase in fair value for
our portfolio of AFS securities as of November 30, 2024, would be in a range of approximately $20.0 million to $25.0
million. Conversely, a corresponding increase in interest rates would result in a comparable decrease in fair value. This
hypothetical increase or decrease in the fair value of the portfolio would be recorded as an adjustment to the
portfolioa€™ s recorded value, with an offsetting amount recorded in stockholdersa€™ equity. These fluctuations in fair
value would have no related or immediate impact on our results of operations unless any declines in fair value are due
to credit related concerns and an impairment loss is recognized. 28A Table of Contents AA A We are also exposed to
interest rate risk through the use of our credit facilities as outlined in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this
Form 10-Q. If interest rates were to increase, or we increase the frequency or amounts borrowed under these credit
facilities, we could experience additional interest expense and a corresponding decrease in earnings. A Credit risk: We
are exposed to credit risk in connection with our investments in AFS securities through the possible inability of the
borrowers to meet the terms of their bonds. We regularly review our investment portfolios to determine if any
investment is impaired due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns and we believe that the investments we
held as of November 30, 2024 were not impaired as a result of the previously discussed reasons. While $2.4 billion of
our AFS securities had fair values that were below amortized cost, we believe that it is probable that the principal and
interest will be collected in accordance with the contractual terms, and that the gross unrealized losses of $95.2 million
were due to changes in interest rates and were not due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns. A
substantial portion of the AFS securities in an unrealized loss position as of November 30, 2024 and May 31, 2024 had
an AA rating or better. We do not intend to sell these investments until the recovery of their amortized cost basis or
maturity, and further believe that it is not more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell these investments prior
to that time. Our assessment that an investment is not impaired due to increased credit risk or other valuation concerns
could change in the future due to new developments, including changes in our strategies or assumptions related to any
particular investment. We have some credit risk exposure relating to our purchase of client accounts receivable under
non-recourse arrangements. There is also credit risk exposure relating to our trade accounts receivable. This credit risk
exposure is diversified amongst multiple client arrangements and all such arrangements are regularly reviewed for
potential write-off. No single client was material in respect to total accounts receivable, service revenue, or results of
operations as of November 30, 2024. Market risk: We have an ongoing monitoring system for financial institutions we
conduct business with and maintain cash balances at large well-capitalized (as defined by their regulators) financial
institutions. We closely monitor market conditions and take appropriate measures, when necessary, to minimize
potential risk exposure to our clientd€™s and our cash and investment balances. A CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES A Our critical accounting policies are described in Item 7 of our Form 10-K for fiscal 2024, filed with the
SEC on July 11, 2024. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the critical accounting policies and estimates used to prepare
our consolidated financial statements, including, but not limited to, those related to: A a€¢revenue recognition; a€
¢assets recognized from the costs to obtain and fulfill contracts; 4€¢PEO insurance reserves; a€¢goodwill and othgr
intangible assets; a€¢impairment of long-lived assets; a€¢stock-based compensation costs; and d€¢income taxes. A
There have been no material changes in these aforementioned critical accounting policies and estimates. NEW
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS A Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: Refer to Note A of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) contained in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for a discussion of recently
adopted accounting pronouncements. A Recently issued accounting pronouncements: Refer to Note A of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) contained in Item 1 of this Form 10-Q for a discussion of recently issued
accounting pronouncements. Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk A The information
called for by this item is provided under the caption a€ceMarket Risk Factorsa€ under Item 2 4€“ Managementa€™s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and is incorporated herein by reference. 29A
Table of Contents AA A Item 4. Controls and Procedures A Disclosure Controls and Procedures: Disclosure controls
and procedures are designed with the objective of ensuring that information required to be disclosed in the
Companya€™s reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the a€ceExchange Acta€), such as
this report, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SECa€™s rules
and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures are also designed with the objective of ensuring that such information is
accumulated and communicated to the Companya€™s management, including the Companya€™s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. A
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures: As of the end of the period covered by
this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Companya€™s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and
procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act. Based on such evaluation, the
Companya€™s principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of November 30, 2024,
the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable
assurance level. A Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting: The Company also carried out an evaluation of
the internal control over financial reporting to determine whether any changes occurred during the fiscal quarter ended
November 30, 2024. Based on such evaluation, there have been no changes in the Companya€™s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the Companya€™s most recently completed fiscal quarter ended November 30,
2024, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Companya€™s internal control over
financial reporting. 30A Table of Contents A A PART II. OTHER INFORMATION A Item 2. Unregistered Sales of
Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds A The Company maintains a program to repurchase up to $400.0 million of the
Companya€™s common stock with authorization that expires on May 31, 2027. The purpose of this program is to
manage common stock dilution. There were no shares repurchased during the second quarter and $296.0 million



remains available for share repurchases in total under this program. A During the second quarter, the Company paid
$0.5 million in federal excise tax for net share repurchases made during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024. A ITtem 5.
Other Information A During the second quarter, none of our directors or officers (as defined by Rule 16a-1 under the
Exchange Act), adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities
that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Exchange Act or any a€cenon-
Rule 10b5-1 tljading arrangementa€ (as defil}eq by Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K). A Ttem 6. Exhibits A INDEX TO
EXHIBITS A A Exhibitnumber Description A A A * 31.1 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002. * 31.2 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. * 32.1 Certification
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. * 32.2
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
* 101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Documenta€“ the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. * 101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents * 104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL
document) A * Exhibit filed or furnished with this report A 31A Table of Contents A A SIGNATURES A Pursuant to
the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. A PAYCHEX, INC. A Date: December 19, 2024 /s/ John B. Gibson
A A A John B. Gibson A A A President, Chief Executive Officer and Director A A A (Principal Executive Officer) A
A A A A Date: December 19, 2024 /s/ Robert L. Schrader A A A Robert L. Schrader A A A Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer A A A (Principal Financial Officer) A A A A A Date: December 19, 2024 /s/ Christopher
SimmonsChristopher SimmonsVice President, Controller and Treasurer(Principal Accounting Officer) A A 32A EX-31.1
EXHIBIT 31.1 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A I, JOHN B.
GIBSON, certify that: A 1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Paychex, Inc.; A 2.Based on my
knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; A 3.Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; A 4.The
registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: a)Designed such disclosure controls
and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; b)Designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c)Evaluated the
effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrantd€™s internal control over financial reporting; and A 5.The registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s
auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions): a)All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or
other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting. AAAA

A AAAAAAAA A Date: ADecember 19, 2024 A /s/ John B. Gibson A A A A President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director(Principal Executive Officer) A EX-31.2 EXHIBIT 31.2 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A I, ROBERT L. SCHRADER, certify that: A 1.I have reviewed this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Paychex, Inc.; A 2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; A 3.Based
on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report; A 4.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have: a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s
disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrantd€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrantd€™ s internal control over
financial reporting; and A 5.The registrantd€™s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most
recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of
the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a)All significant deficiencies
and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably



likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting. A A A A A A A A A Date: A December 19, 2024 A /s/
Robert L. Schrader A A A A Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer) A A EX-
32.1 EXHIBIT 32.1 A CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A In connection with the Quarterly Report of Paychex, Inc.
(the a€eCompanya€) on Form 10-Q for the period ended November 30, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (&€0eSECa€) on the date hereof (the a€meReporta€), I, JOHN B. GIBSON, Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that: A (1)The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended; and A (2)The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company. A A signed original of this written statement has been
provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC upon request. A Date:
December 19, 2024 A A A /s/John B. Gibson A John B. Gibson A President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director(Principal Executive Officer) A A A EX-32.2 EXHIBIT 32.2 A CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C.
SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A In connection
with the Quarterly Report of Paychex, Inc. (the &€oeCompanya€) on Form 10-Q for the period ended November 30,
2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (3€eSECa€) on the date hereof (the a€ceReporta€), I,
ROBERT L. SCHRADER, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: A (1)The Report fully complies with the requirements
of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and A (2)The information contained in
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. A
A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the SEC upon request. A Date: December 19, 2024 A A A /s/ Robert L. Schrader A Robert L. Schrader A
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer) A A A A



